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CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

December 22, 2014

To the Citizens of the

City of Bozeman, Montana

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 is hereby submitted.
Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. To the best
of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data are accurate in all material respects and are reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial position
and results of operations of the various funds of the City. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City's financial

activities have been included.

The City is required to undergo an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions of the Single Audit Act of 1984 and the Office of Management and

Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Information related to the single audit, including the Schedule of

Expenditures of Federal Awards and the Auditor’s Reports on Basic Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards,
Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards, and Compliance with Requirements Applicable to Each Major Program and Internal Control over Compliance in Accordance

with OMB Circular A-133, are included in the single audit section of this report.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is a narrative introduction, overview and analysis written to accompany the basic financial statements and

should be read in conjunction with the transmittal letter.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

CITY OF BOZEMAN PROFILE
The City of Bozeman was incorporated in April of 1883 with a city council form of government, and later in January 1922 transitioned to its current city

manager/city commission form of government. Bozeman encompasses an area over 18 square miles and is located on the eastern slope of the Rocky Mountains.
The 2012 census put Bozeman's population at 38,695 which is a total increase of 37.90% from 2000 to 2012 and making it the fourth largest city in the state.

Bozeman is at the county seat of Gallatin County and is the home to Montana State University — Bozeman, and the fighting Bobcats.

The government provides a full range of services. These services include police and fire protection; sanitation services; water, waste water & storm water
utilities; the construction and maintenance of streets and infrastructure; recreational activities; cultural events; planning and zoning; and general administrative
services. The City, as a primary government, is supported or works closely with certain entities to provide these services to the citizens of the City of Bozeman.
Of these entities, Bozeman Public Library Foundation, Inc. is considered a component unit subject to the requirements for inclusion as a discretely presented
component unit. The City Planning Board is presented as a blended component unit. The Bozeman Public Library Board of Trustees, Senior Advisory Council
and the Parking Commission are excluded from presentation in these financial statements, since their relationship with the City is strictly advisory in nature at

this time.

BUDGET DEVELOPMENT PROCESS
The City of Bozeman budget serves several purposes. For the citizens of the City of Bozeman, it presents a picture of the city government operations and

intentions for the year. For the City Commission, it serves as a policy tool and as an expression of goals and objectives. For City Management, it is used as an

operating guide and a control mechanism.

The City Manager’s Recommended Budget is created and submitted to the City Commission. Public work sessions are then held by the Commissioners at
which time the City Manager, Administrative Services Director, and department staff explain the budget recommendations and underlying justification for the
requests. The Commission also reviews departmental requests which could not be funded, as an indication of unmet needs. During (or following) the work
sessions, the Commissioners may make adjustments to the proposed budget. Following any adjustments to the City Manager's budget recommendation, a
tentative appropriation ordinance is prepared and a public hearing is held. The Commission may again make adjustments to the budget following the public

hearing, after which time, the Commission passes the appropriation ordinance in final form.

Fiscal Year 14 marked the second year in a row, where the final budget was adopted before start of the year. It was completed in late April and presented in
early May with an adoption of a final budget before June 30™. This revised budget calendar was developed in Fiscal Year 13 in an effort to improve
understandability of our financial plans and to improve staff and commission efficiency. The overall goal of the City’s financial policies is to establish and

maintain effective management of the City’s financial resources.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK
The Bureau of Business and Economic Research (BBER) is the research and public service branch of the

University of Montana’s School of Business Administration. The Bureau is regularly involved in a wide variety

of activities, including economic analysis and forecasting. Excerpts from the Bureau’s forecasts contained in the
Mining and Transportation, 2%
e Ag. and Related, 4%

9% Trade Ctr., Retail
10% Federal Government

11% Nonresident Travel

spring 2014 issue of the Montana Business Quarterly relating to Gallatin County and City of Bozeman are stated

below.

. . . . . Selected Manufacturing
The economic growth figures for Gallatin County received a one-time boost due to the sale of RightNow

. . . .- . Trade Ctr,, Prof. Services
Technologies to Oracle. Because of the way in which the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics counts things, the stock

options of RightNow employees were included in reported wages during 2011 and 2012. The negative growth in MSU and State Gov't.

2013 is simply the arithmetic consequence of the large one-time increases in earlier years. Even after correcting

for this event, Gallatin County is tied with Flathead County and trails only Bakken-fueled Yellowstone County in  Sousces: Buseau of Business and Economic Research,
University of Montana; Bureau of Economic Analysis,

terms of overall economic growth since the recession trough in 2009. USS. Depastment of Commerce.

Gallatin County’s construction industry was particularly hit hard and has recently only shown a hint of
recovery. The recent growth has been due to stability in the traditional basic industries such as Montana State
University, nonresident travel, and high-tech manufacturing combined with robust expansion in Bozeman’s role

as a regional trade and service center.

8% . . .. . . .
Actual Montana State University is the largest basic industry in Gallatin County, accounting for about 32 percent of

6% . . . . .. . .

total basic earnings. Growth in contract research rather than state funding has maintained the contribution of
4% MSU despite wage freezes and other recession-related impacts on government. Bozeman’s high-tech sector
2% includes firms in manufacturing and professional services (software), and accounts for another 32 percent of
0% . .

basic earnings.
-2%
-4% The forecasts call for increases to be 4 percent or greater between 2014 and 2017. Gallatin County is projected

0 11 12 13 14 15 16 "7
to be the fastest growing urban area in the state. The end of the wage freeze at Montana State University,

Sources: Bureau of Business and Economic Research,

University of Montana; Bureau of Economic Analysis,  ¢continued moderate recovery in construction, increases in nonresident travel as Americans once again take
US. Department of Commerce.

vacations, and strength in the high-tech industries will fuel the economic growth.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

FOR THE YEAR
Significant Changes During Fiscal Year 2014:

Increased Building Permit Activities: The Building Inspection division has seen strong permit issuance over the past 12 months. While never completely

stopping, building construction significantly slowed during the recession. For fiscal year 2014, the total value of Building Permits for New Construction is
approximately 130% of the previous year. Remodel and addition activity also continues to be strong. As vacant, buildable lots are consumed, we expect to see

increased planning and subdivision activity. The City added building inspection staff and outside contracts mid-year to keep up with workload demands.

Increased Citizen Participation with Online City Hall Budget Forum: Online City Hall is a new interactive tool for citizens to provide feedback to

the City on a variety of topics. The forum was installed in Fiscal Year 2014 as a way to utilize social media features to “welcome citizen involvement”,

furthering our core value of Teamwork.

MMIA Declaratory Action: In December 2009, the Montana Supreme Court ruled against the City in our appeal of Delaney v. City of Bozeman. At issue

was the City’s purchase of the Mandeville Farm property in 2003. Delaney was awarded $3 Million. The City and Montana Municipal Interlocal Authority
(MMIA) sought judicial determination on the amounts owed by each party. In April 2012, a District Court in Helena determined that the City owed the full
amount. The City filed an appeal with the Montana Supreme Court. Prior to a determination by the Court, the City and MMIA settled the case. Under the terms
of the settlement, the City is to pay the MMIA a total of $2 Million over a 3 year period. The second of three payments was made in Fiscal Year 14.

Refinance of Water & Wastewater System Loans:  The City has outstanding loans with the Montana Department of Natural Resources and Conservation

(DNRC) to finance the construction of the Water Plant and the Water Reclamation Facility. In August 2013, the DNRC approved, and the City adopted, an
interest rate reduction from 3.75% to 3.00%. The decrease will save the Water Fund and average of $83,535 per year, totaling $1,670,694 over the remaining

life of the loan. The decrease will save the Wastewater Fund an average of $99,047 per year, totaling $1,782,853 over the remaining life of the loan.

Energy Saving Projects: There was an in-depth audit of City buildings and facilities for potential energy savings. The firm McKinstry was selected as
the energy performance contractor for this assessment. They have very recently delivered a preliminary report that outlines a number of energy-saving projects
and identifies estimated “payback” periods, where energy savings will cover the costs of the improvements. They also expect to issue another report in the fall

of 2014 that will add projects to the analysis that couldn’t be considered due to time constraints in the spring.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)

Gallatin College Received Voter Support: On November 4th, 2013, Gallatin County voters passed a modest property tax increase to support and expand

job-training and two-year education at Gallatin College. The 1.5 mill levy will cost a median home owner $4.15/year, raising $370,000/year to support the
College. This levy also fulfills a requirement set by the Montana Board of Regents in 2010 when the board approved putting the MSU-Bozeman campus in

charge of the two-year program. As result of voter approval, the City will no longer budget 1.5 mills out of its all purpose levy/general fund.

FOR THE FUTURE

Family Aquatics Center: Previous studies have identified the limited life-span

of Bogert Pool, the City’s only public outdoor swimming pool. There is money set
aside for the design of a replacement facility for Bogert Pool so that a voter-approved

bond measure can be considered in the future.

Storm Water Utility: In 2012 the City created its Storm Water Utility. During the
last two years, the City has been working to identify assessment methodologies,
infrastructure locations and conditions, and develop a funding plan for future storm
water improvements. It has been decided that citizens will be assessed based on an
“impervious surface” method rather than the current “meter-sized” method. The
impervious surface method of assessment is expected to begin in the second half of

Fiscal Year 2015.
Beall Park Recreation Center

Transportation System: The City’s network of streets, sidewalks, and intersections continues to be a significant concern. In the developing areas of the

City, expansion and completion of the system is a hurdle; in the older areas of town, reconstruction and replacement are our pressing tasks. The City plans to

develop a sustainable transportation management and funding model.

Voter Approval of the Trails, Open Space, and Parks (TOP) Bond $15 Million: In November 2012, City voters approved the issuance of $15 Million

in General Obligation Bonds to fund trail, open space, and park (TOP) projects. In December 2013, the City issued $9.9 Million of those bonds. Since that time,
nearly $14 Million has been allocated to specific projects through a TOP application process. Staff will be working over the coming months to complete land

acquisition and project construction. The City anticipates the issuance of the remaining $5.1 Million in December of 2014.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

FOR THE FUTURE

Police & Municipal Court Facility: In 2014, the City swapped land with the Montana Department of Transportation for an 8-acre parcel of land on Rouse

to build a new police and municipal court facility. Design of the facility was completed in fiscal year 2014. In November 2014, the City will be asking voters

to approve approximately $22 Million in General Obligation bonds plus an operations levy to build the facility and operate into the future.

Other

Design and construction of a landfill soil gas remediation system.

Pursue building a Bozeman convention center.

Develop a plan for the City to get broadband for growing local businesses.

Water Pipe Replacement Program - approximately $1M every year for the construction of necessary water system replacement work.

Waste Water Pipe Replacement Program — approximately $1M every year for the construction of necessary sewer system replacement work.
Intersection Control - approximately $750,000 every year for improved traffic flow and safety at various intersections.

Widen Cottonwood Road from West Babcock to Oak Street.

Continue implementation of financial plans and asset management systems to properly maintain and replace the City’s infrastructure and facilities.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

FINANCIAL POLICIES
The overall goal of the City's financial policies is to establish and maintain effective management of the city's financial resources. Formal policy statements and

major objectives provide the foundation for achieving this goal.

The City avoids budgetary practices that balance current expenditures at the expense of meeting future years' expenses and seeks to maintain a diversified and
stable revenue base that is estimated in a realistic and conservative manner. For one-time revenues, highest priority is given to the funding of capital assets or

other non-recurring expenditures.

On-going expenditures are limited to levels which can be supported by current revenues. Construction projects and capital purchases of $10,000 or more are

included in the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). Minor capital outlays of less than $10,000 are included in the regular operating budget.

Spending of resources happen in the following order (they are categorized according to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for state and local
governments, with the following general definitions):
e Restricted -- Amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such as grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government) through
constitutional provisions or by enabling legislation.
o Committed -- Amounts constrained to specific purposes by the City Commission; to be reported as committed, amounts cannot be used for any other
purpose unless the City Commission takes action to remove or change the constraint.
e Assigned -- Amounts the City intends to use for a specific purpose; intent can be expressed by the Commission or by an official or body to which the
Commission delegates the authority. The City Commission delegates this authority to the City Manager.

e Unassigned -- Amounts that are available for any purpose; these amounts are reported only in the General Fund.

Long-term debt is limited to capital improvements which cannot be financed from current revenues and repays borrowed funds within a period that does not
exceed the expected useful life of the project. The City does not use long-term debt for financing current operations and adheres to a policy of full public

disclosure with regard to the issuance of debt.

A minimum level of general fund reserve equal to 16.67% of annual revenues is maintained. This reserve is committed to be used for: cash flow purposes,
accrued employee payroll benefits which are not shown as a liability, unanticipated equipment acquisition and replacement, and to enable the city to meet

unexpected expenditure demands or revenue shortfalls.
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FINANCIAL POLICIES (CONTINUED)
The City manages and accounts for its financial activity in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), as set forth by the

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

The city maintains its accounting records for general governmental operations on a modified accrual basis, with revenues recorded when available and
measurable, and expenditures recorded when services or goods are received and liabilities incurred. Accounting records for proprietary fund types and similar
trust funds are maintained on an accrual basis, with all revenues recorded when earned and expenses recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, without regard

to receipt or payment of cash.

Internal Controls
Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable (but not absolute) assurance of the safeguarding of assets against loss, theft or misuse. They are
also designed to aid in the reliability of financial records. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the

benefits likely to be derived and that the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

In developing and evaluating the City’s accounting system, great consideration is given to the adequacy of internal accounting controls. We believe that the

City of Bozeman’s internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions.
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OTHER INFORMATION
Independent Audit

The State of Montana requires a biannual audit of the books of accounts, financial records, and transactions of all administrative departments of the City by
independent certified accountants selected by the City Commission. It is the belief of the City Commission and Executive staff that an annual audit assures a
higher level of financial management and fiscal responsibility. This policy, along with the legal requirements, has been complied with and the auditors' opinion

of Anderson, ZurMuehlen & Co. P.C., has been included in this report.

Awards

The Government Finance Officers' Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Bozeman
for its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. This was the 30™ consecutive year that the City has received this
prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual

financial report. This report satisfied both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the

Certificate of Achievement Program's requirement and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Honorable Mayor, City Commissioners, and City Manager of the
City of Bozeman, Montana

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of City of Bozeman, Montana (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and related notes to the financial
statements which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Bozeman, Montana, as of June 30, 2014,
and the respective changes in financial position, and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison
information — General Fund and Special Revenue Major Funds, and Schedule of Funding Progress - Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) be presented
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise City of Bozeman’s basic financial
statements. The introductory section and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards and other supplemental information, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes
of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations, and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards and other supplemental information, as listed in the table of contents, are the responsibility of management
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and other supplemental information, as listed in the table of contents, are fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory section and statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 22, 2014, on our consideration of the City’s internal
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

ijwmm &G pe

Bozeman, Montana
December 22, 2014
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CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2014

Our discussion and analysis of the City of Bozeman’s financial performance provides an overview of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2014. Please read it in conjunction with the transmittal letter on page 1 and the City’s financial statements, which begin on page 34.

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities (on pages 34 and 35) provide
information about the activities of the City as a whole and present a longer-term view of the City’s finances. Fund financial statements start on page 36. For
governmental activities, these statements tell how these services were financed in the short term as well as what remains for future spending. Fund financial
statements also report the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements by providing information about the City’s most significant
funds. The remaining statements provide financial information about activities for which the City acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of those
outside of the government.

Reporting the City as a Whole
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

Our analysis of the City as a whole begins on page 23. One of the most important questions asked about the City’s finances is, “Is the City as a whole better off
or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information about the City as a whole and
about its activities in a way that helps answer this question. These statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting, which is
similar to the accounting used by most private-sector companies. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when
cash is received or paid.

These two statements report the City’s net position and changes in net position. You can think of the City’s net position, the difference between assets, what
the citizens own, and liabilities, what the citizens owe, as one way to measure the City’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or
decreases in the City’s net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. You will need to consider other nonfinancial
factors, however, such as changes in the City’s property tax base, income tax base, and the condition of the City’s capital assets (roads, buildings, water and
sewer lines) to assess the overall health of the City.

In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, we divide the City into two kinds of activities:

e Governmental activities—Most of the City’s basic services are reported here, including police, fire, public works, parks, and general administration.
Property taxes, state shared revenues, court fines, and recreation fees finance most of these activities.

e Business-type activities—The City charges a fee to customers to help it cover all or most of the cost of certain services it provides. The City’s water,
waste water, storm water, solid waste, and parking systems are reported here.
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JUNE 30, 2014

Reporting the City’s Most Significant Funds
Fund Financial Statements

Our analysis of the City’s funds begins on page 28. The fund financial statements begin on page 36 and provide detailed information about the most significant
funds, not the City as a whole. Some funds are required to be established by State law and by bond covenants. However, the City Commission establishes
many other funds to help it control and manage money for particular purposes (like Street Maintenance District Funds) or to show that it is meeting legal
responsibilities for using certain taxes, grants, and other money (like grants received from the Environmental Protection Agency). The City’s two kinds of
funds, governmental and proprietary, use different accounting approaches.

Governmental funds--Most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and
the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which
measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the
City’s general government operations and the basic services it provides. Governmental fund information helps you determine whether there are more or fewer
financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s programs. We describe the relationship (or differences) between governmental
activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds in reconciliation on pages 38 and 40 of the fund
financial statements.

Proprietary funds--When the City charges customers for the services it provides, whether to outside customers or to other units of the City, these services are
generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all activities are reported in the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Activities. In fact, the City’s enterprise funds (a component of the proprietary funds) are the same as the business-type activities we report in the
government-wide statements but provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows, for proprietary funds. We use internal service funds (the
other component of proprietary funds) to report activities that provide supplies and services for the City’s other programs and activities, such as the Vehicle
Maintenance Fund and Health Insurance Fund. Internal service fund activity is reported as governmental activity in the government-wide statements since this
activity, the financing of goods and services for other funds of the government, is more governmental than business-type in nature.

The City as Trustee
Reporting the City’s Fiduciary Responsibilities

The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for other funds, including the Municipal Court Fund, the Montana Arts Council Fund (Montana Ballet, Bozeman
Symphony Orchestra, and Big Sky Association for the Arts), and the CMC Bozeman Asbestos Site Remediation Fund. It is also responsible for other assets
that, because of a trust arrangement, can be used only for the trust beneficiaries. The guidelines for the administration of these funds are contained in applicable
financial agreements and/or City ordinances. These documents contain the rules governing the receipt, expenditure, and management of the City’s fiduciary
funds. All of the City’s fiduciary activities are reported in the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position on page 46 and in the Combining Statement of Changes in
Assets and Liabilities-Agency Funds on page 143. As the statements reflect, the financial activity during the year for these funds is nominal. We exclude these
activities from the City’s other financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its operations. The City is responsible for ensuring that
the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes.
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THE CITY AS A WHOLE

The City’s combined net position increased by $13.7 million this year as compared to an $11.3 million increase last year. The primary reason for this is that the
increase in revenues, driven mainly by Charges for Services and Restricted Capital Grants & Contributions (infrastructure provided by private developers) was
simply greater than the increase in expenses. The specific contributing factors are outlined in the following discussion. Our analysis focuses on the net position
(Table 1) and changes in net position (Table 2) of the City’s governmental and business-type activities.

The net position of the City’s governmental activities increased by 7.2% ($137 million this year compared to $127.8 million last year). Unrestricted net
position for governmental activities, the part of net position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations without constraints established by debt covenants,
enabling legislation or other legal requirements increased to $12.1 million. The net position of the City’s business-type activities increased by 2.1% ($217.6
million compared to $213.1 million in 2013). This net position cannot be used to make up for deficits reported by governmental activities in the event any such
deficits were reported. The City generally can only use the net position of business-type activities to finance the continuing operations of the water, waste
water, solid waste, storm water, and parking operations.

Table 1
Net Position
(in Millions)

Governmental Business-type Total

Activities Activities Primary Government

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Current and Other Assets $ 562§ 46.0 $ 23.1 $ 223 $ 794 §$ 68.3
Capital Assets 108.3 99.7 244.7 235.6 352.9 335.3
Total Assets $ 164578 1457 7S 2678 $ 2579 7S 4323 § 4036
Long-term Debt Outstanding (20.3) (12.3) (44.9) (27.2) (65.2) (39.5)
Other Liabilities (7.2) (5.5) (5.3) (7.7) (12.5) (13.2)
Total Liabilities $ (275 8 (@178) $ (502) $ (349 $§ (77.7) & (52.7)
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets $ 893 § 80.1 § 1963 § 1994 § 2856 288.5
Restricted for parking capital projects - - 0.3 - 0.3 -
Restricted for debt service 4.0 3.8 - 2.8 4.0 6.6
Restricted for capital projects 9.4 - - 0.3 9.4 0.3
Restricted for general government 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Restricted for Public Safety 2.3 2.0 - - 2.3 2.0
Restricted for Public Service 13.2 13.6 - - 13.2 13.6
Restricted for Public Welfare 4.5 5.6 - - 4.5 5.6
Nonspendable 1.3 1.2 1.3 1.2
Unrestricted 12.1 11.5 21.0 10.6 33.1 22.1

Total Net Position $ 1370 $ 1278 $ 2176 $ 213.1 $ 3546 $ 340.9
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The City’s total revenues (excluding special items) increased by 22.7% ($13.5 million), driven primarily by a $9.7 million increase in Restricted Capital Grants
and Contributions, which included infrastructure provided by private developers. The total cost of all programs and services increased by $11.5 million, or
23.8%. The largest contributors to this increase in expenses were Solid Waste ($4.5 million) and Waste Water ($2.9 million) followed by Public
Service/Streets ($2.1 million). Our analysis below separately considers the operations of governmental and business-type activities.

Table 2
Changes in Net Position
(in Millions)

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for Services $ 14.0 $ 134 $ 223 $ 213 § 363 §$ 34.7
Restricted Operating Grants & Contributions 0.5 0.4 0.0 - 0.5 0.4
Restricted Capital Grants & Contributions 4.8 0.8 5.9 0.2 10.7 1.0
General Revenues
Property Taxes 17.6 16.4 - - 17.6 16.4
Unrestricted Operating Grants & Contributions 7.4 6.3 - 0.5 7.4 6.8
Other General Revenues 0.6 0.2 - - 0.6 0.2
Total Revenues 44.8 37.5 28.2 22.0 73.0 59.5
Program Expenses
General Government 7.0 7.4 - - 7.0 7.4
Public Safety 15.3 14.3 - - 15.3 14.3
Public Service 6.0 3.9 - - 6.0 3.9
Public Welfare 7.4 6.5 - - 7.4 6.5
Interest and Fiscal Fees 0.2 0.4 - - 0.2 0.4
Water - - 6.9 6.2 6.9 6.2
Waste Water - - 9.0 6.1 9.0 6.1
Solid Waste - - 7.0 2.5 7.0 2.5
Non-major activities - - 1.0 0.9 1.0 0.9
Total Expenses 35.9 32.5 23.8 15.7 59.7 48.2
Excess (deficiency) before
special items and transfers 8.9 5.0 4.5 6.3 13.4 11.3
Sale of Capital Assets 0.2 - - - 0.2 -

Increase (decrease) in net position $ 92 $ 50 $ 45 § 63 $ 13.6 $ 11.3
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Governmental Activities

Revenues for the year from governmental activities increased by 19.5% ($7.3 million) to $44.8 million while total expenses increased by $3.4 million to $35.9
million. This excess of revenues over expenses contributed to a $9.2 million increase in the total net position for governmental activities. While revenue from
charges for services and tax revenue did increase, the primary cause of this increase in net position was a substantial increase in Restricted Capital Grants &
Contributions. This generally includes street infrastructure constructed by private developers which becomes part of the City’s public road network and is
reported as revenue in the City’s financial statements. This and the other contributing factors listed below are primarily responsible for this year’s increase in
net position:

Charges for services increased by $.6 million, or 4.5%, from $13.4 million last year to $14 million this year. Street Impact Fees were the biggest factor here,
with revenues increasing by $357,495, or 14.4%, from $2.5 million last year to $2.8 million this year. Secondly was the increase in Street Maintenance
Assessment rates and resulting revenue increase in response to the City Commission’s policy direction to address deferred street infrastructure maintenance and
to build a reserve for curb and sidewalk replacement. Accordingly, revenue from Street Maintenance Assessments increased by $246,131, or 8.4%, from
$2,917,499 last year to $3,163,630 this year.

Property Tax collections also increased by approximately $1.2 million, or 7.3%, from $16.4 million last year to $17.6 million this year due to a 2.9% increase
this year in the mill value (from $83,226 to $85,637) and a 3.8% increase in the number of property tax mills levied (from 166.75 to 173.08). Revenues in the
North 7% Avenue Corridor Tax Increment Financing District increased by 14.8%, or $96,466, from $650,989 to $747,455. Despite the increase in property tax
revenue, this year’s tax levy was still 24 mills lower than the statutory maximum allowable tax rate.

Unrestricted Operating Grants and Contributions increased by $1.1 million, or 17.5%, from $6.3 million last year to $7.4 million this year mainly due a 7.7%
increase in State Entitlement Share revenue from $3.7 to 4 million and a 2.3% increase in the State’s share of City employee retirement from $2.18 million to
$2.23 million, in addition to a general increase in various federal and state grants.

Interest on Investments increased this year significantly by $112,000, or 46%, from $243,744 to $355,790. This increase was not due to a change in interest
rates but rather an increase in cash balances. Interest rates actually continued to decline for the 5™ consecutive year, down from .82% last year to .81% this
year. However, overall cash balances for Governmental Activities increased significantly this year resulting in higher interest on investments. The largest
contributor was the TOP Trail Open Space Parks Program which issued $9.9 million in debt. As of year-end a sizeable amount still remained unspent on TOP
projects and thus was earning interest.

The cost of all governmental activities this year was $35.9 million compared to $32.5 million last year. However, as shown in the Statement of Activities on
page 35 under Net(Expense) Revenue for Total governmental activities, the amount that our taxpayers ultimately financed for these activities through City
taxes and other general revenues was only $16,715,266 because some of the cost was paid by those who directly benefited from the programs ($13,980,088) or
by other governments and organizations that subsidized certain programs with operating and capital grants and contributions ($457,354 + $4,762,416 =
$5,219,770).

Overall, the City’s revenues from governmental activities — including intergovernmental revenues and charges for services — increased this year from $37.5 to
$44.8 million. Charges for services increased by $.6 million, or 4.5%, from $13,435,013 to $13,980,088 mainly due to Street Impact Fees revenues increasing
by $357,500, or 14.5%, from $2.48 million last year to $2.84 million this year. Street Maintenance Assessments also increased by $246,131, or 8.4%. Licenses
and permits also increased by $154,538, or 9.5%, from $1,629,744 to $1,784,282 mainly due to increased Building Permit construction activity.
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Overall expenses increased by $3.4 million, or 10.5%, to $35.9 million this year. The largest increase was in Public Service, where expenses increased by $2.1
million, or 54%, from $3.9 million to $6 million due mainly to higher spending on Street Maintenance. Street maintenance expenses increased by $579,229, or
29.3%, from $1.98 million last year to $2.56 million this year. Vehicle Maintenance expenses also increased by $172,000, or 18.8%, from $914,423 to
$1,086,227.  Additionally, the GIS Geographic Information Systems function was moved from General Government to Public Service, which increased
expenses this year by $149,356. Expenses increased in Public Safety as well. Police, Fire and Building Inspection reported a combined $1 million increase in
expenses over last year, mostly due to $767,196 in increased personnel costs as the City continued to fill the new positions authorized and funded by the Public
Safety mill levy.

Table 3 presents the cost of each of the City’s six largest programs—Police, Fire, Public Service, Library, Parks and Recreation—as well as each program’s net
cost (total cost less revenues generated by the activities). The net cost shows the financial burden that was placed on the City’s taxpayers by each of these
functions.
Table 3
Governmental Activities
(in Millions)

Total Cost Net Cost
of Services of Services
2014 2013 2014 2013

Police $ 79 $ 7.7 $ 63 $ 6.0
Fire 5.6 5.6 5.0 4.7
Public Service 6.0 3.9 (1.2) (1.0)
Library 1.6 1.5 0.9 0.9
Parks 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.2
Recreation 1.3 1.2 0.8 0.8
All Others 12.3 11.3 12.9 13.3
Totals $ 359 § 32.5 $ 26.0 $ 26.0

Business-type Activities

Total revenues of the City’s business-type activities (see Table 2) increased by 28.2% ($28.2 million in 2014 compared to $22.0 million in 2013) while
expenses increased significantly by 51.6% ($23.8 million in 2014 compared to $15.7 million in 2013). The increase in revenues was due primarily to a large
increase in the amount of privately-constructed infrastructure that was contributed to the City by developers. This activity is recorded under Program revenues
as Restricted Operating Grants & Contributions. The significant increase in expenses was due primarily to landfill soil gas remediation costs. Specific factors
driving the other regular operating results include:

Water The City’s water system operating revenue (charges for services) have steadily increased over the past decade as a result of both an increase in
the customer base in past years and as a result of regular rate changes. The City’s customer-base growth was 398 customers, or 3.7%, for this year. This growth
rate is more closely in line with the 5% growth trend of 2005-2008. In updating the rate study for slower customer growth in recent years, decreased Water
Impact Fee collections and new estimates of Water Plant costs, the City implemented water rate increases of 4.5% each year in fiscal years 2011, 2012, and
2013 in order to fund plant construction and other scheduled operations and maintenance costs. Accordingly the City was able to revitalize its water
distribution pipe replacement program and replace or rehabilitate aging infrastructure every year instead of every two years.
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This year the Commission voted to hold rates steady and not to implement a water rate increase in light of the other tax and rate increases imposed upon City
residents this year.

As would be expected with no rate increase, operating revenues increased only slightly by .83% from $7,806,922 last year to $7,871,386 this year due to 3.7%
increase in customer base and consumption. Water impact fee revenues increased by $179,828, or 10.8%, and cash-in-lieu of water rights revenue increased
substantially by $221,392, or 163%, from $135,814 to $357,206. Most significant was the contribution of infrastructure by private developers, which increased
dramatically from $156,123 last year to $3,137,978 this year due to an upturn in construction and development. Operating expenses increased by $448,936, or
7.5%, from $5,991,496 last year to $6,440,432 this year mainly due to increased personnel and operating costs. Major accomplishments projects completed
during the year include spending the final $6 million to replace/construct the City’s new $42 million Water Treatment Plant and spending $827,776 spent on the
afore-mentioned water distribution pipe replacement and rehabilitation program.

Wastewater Revenues in the Wastewater Fund have generally been increasing over the past 10 years and are estimated at $7.2 Million for the upcoming
year. Three years ago the City borrowed significantly to construct the new Water Reclamation Facility. This debt is being repaid by system users over the next
20 years. Accordingly, the City Commission adopted a two-year rate resolution of a 6% increase for the fiscal years 2012 and 2013 and 3% for this year and
next year. As a result of the rate increase, combined with the same volume increase experienced in the water system which accompanied the increase in
customer base of 398 customers, operating revenues for the year increased by 4.2% from $6,916,226 last year to $7,204,486 this year. Wastewater operating
expenses increased 57.3% from $5,273,875 last year to $8,294,821 this year due mainly to a $580,049, or 37.4% increase in personnel costs due to additional
staffing and due to a $1,256,304 increase in the cost estimate for the Bozeman Solvent Site based on updated information from legal counsel following the most
recent engineering update. Major projects during the year included $1.4 million spent on the collection pipe rehabilitation and replacement program, which is
now done every year instead of every other year. While this was a large outlay of cash, it had relatively little effect on the operating expense amount referred to
previously because these rehabilitation and replacement outlays are treated as capital costs, which are booked as assets and then expensed as depreciation on an
annual basis throughout the course of the assets’ service life.

Solid Waste  During fiscal year 2006, the Commission discussed how the City would continue solid waste disposal services as our landfill was nearing its
capacity. In a measure to reserve the remaining cell space for residential use only, the Commission closed the landfill to tipping by commercial customers and
non-city residents and to any construction and demolition waste. The Landfill officially closed in June 2008. Since the closure the City’s solid waste collection
and disposal system revenues had been declining steadily up until this year when revenues actually increased. The Solid Waste Collection Division continues
to operate residential and commercial collection, and in FY09 the Division began to provide curb-side recycling collection services. Three years ago, the
garbage rates were increased 5%, to cover fuel costs, employee salary and benefit increases, and the assumption of costs that were once shared with the
Landfill/Disposal division. The garbage rates increased this year by 2%.

This year saw a reversal of the trend experienced in previous years where collection revenues were declining due to a slowdown in local construction activity
and corresponding demand for “roll-off” containers and associated hauling and tipping services. Operating revenues increases moderately by $184,992, or
7.4%, from $2,494,892 last year to $2,679,884 this year. Operating expenses would generally follow accordingly, however this year the increase was
additionally significant due to a $2,754,601 net increase in the estimate for Landfill Post-Closure costs. Additional information is available in Footnote 21 on
page 87. Regular operating expenses also increased by $1.7 million, or 69.5%, from $2,475,680 to $4,195,562 primarily due to additional engineering, legal,
and remediation costs associated with the Landfill Soil Gas issue described in that same footnote. As a result, total overall operating expenses increased by
$4,482,529, or 181%, from $2,475,680 last year to $6,958,209 this year.
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THE CITY’S FUNDS

As the City completed the year, its governmental funds (as presented in the balance sheet on pages 36-37) reported a combined fund balance of $45,357,103.
Included in this year’s total change in fund balance is a positive General Fund balance of $6,614,294, down $713,079, or 9.7%, from $7,327,375. The
following five separate categories of fund balance are recognized, based on the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific
purposes for which amounts can be spent: nonspendable fund balance, restricted fund balance, committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and unassigned
fund balance. The total of the last three categories, which include only resources without a constraint on spending or for which the constraint on spending is
imposed by the government itself, is termed unrestricted fund balance. The Government Finance Officers Association’s recommends maintaining an
unrestricted general fund balance of no less than two months of regular general fund operating revenues, or $4,084,688 for this year. The City’s ending
general fund balance of $6,614,294 exceeds this recommendation by $2,529,606. However, as illustrated below, all but $193,534 of this apparent surplus is
already assigned to be used for specific purposes. The primary reasons for this year’s General Fund surplus are explained after the table below, along with an
analysis of each major fund.

The general fund balance of $6,614,294 has been assigned as shown:

FY14 ENDING GENERAL FUND BALANCE - TOTAL: $ 6,614,294

ASSIGNMENTS:
1 CIP/CAPITAL CARRY-OVER BUDGETED IN FY14 BUT NOT SPENT UNTIL FY15:

POLICE DEPT: CIP GF050- POLICE & COURT FACILITY DESIGN S 1,256,134
RECREATION DEPT: POOL DESIGN S 386,642
BROADBAND MASTER PLAN S 60,000
SUSTAINABILITY PROJECTS S 13,720
FACILITIES MGMT: VARIOUS FACILITY PROJECTS S 27,500
TOTAL CIP / CAPITAL CARRY-OVER ITEMS: $ 1,743,996
2 16.67% MINIMUM RESERVE LEVEL REQUIRED BY CITY CHARTER (2 MONTHS OF REVENUES): S 4,084,688
3 FY15BUDGET: FY14 YEAR-END FUND BALANCE NEEDED TO BALANCE FY15 BUDGET: S 592,076
TOTAL GENERAL FUND ASSIGNMENTS: $ 6,420,760

UNASSIGNED GENERAL FUND BALANCE - FY14: S 193,534 |
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General Fund The City’s general fund balance decreased by $713,081, or 9.7%, from $7,327,375 in FY 13 to $6,614,294 this year. The City had budgeted for
fund balance to actually end up being $2.5 million lower than that at $4,094,107, but not as much spending occurred during the year as expected, as indicated
by the TOTAL CIP / CAPITAL CARRY-OVER ITEMS in the preceding table. Other savings were realized through careful and cautious budgetary
management practices implemented throughout all City departments.

Property tax revenues increased noticeably in the General Fund by $765,116, or 6.5%, from $11,744,306 to $12,509,422 mainly due to a 2.9% increase in the
value of the property tax mill value (from $83,226 to $85,637) and a 5.6% increase in the number of general fund property tax mills levied (from 127.66 to
134.76). Intergovernmental revenues increased by $293,082, or 4.6%, from $6,277,896 last year to $6,570,978 this year. Most of this increase was driven a
long-waited increase in Montana State Entitlement Share, which beginning in 2001 replaced the City’s dedicated revenue sources from personal property tax
reimbursements and taxes on motor vehicles, gaming, alcohol, and banking, among others. After several stagnant years of minimal or no change, Entitlement
Share increased this year by $277,613, or 7.8%, from $3,561,160 to $3,838,772. The State of Montana’s share of City employee retirement also showed a
marginal increase of $42,899, or 2%, from $2,117,333 last year to $2,160,232 this year. This revenue amount is a non-cash book-entry only on the City’s
general accounting ledger, and is offset by an expenditure in the exact same amount (most of which is reported under Public Safety for the police and fire
employees), which results in no change to ending fund balance. Other intergovernmental revenue activity included a $41,797, or 8.2%, increase in Gallatin
County’s support of the City Library.

While overall revenues did increase, expenditures increased by a greater amount, which resulted in the $713,081 decrease in general fund balance. Most
notable was $914,001 increase in Capital Outlay expenditures. The largest expenditures were in the Police Department, where $473,000 was spent on
engineering and design of a new Police-Court Justice Center and $310,741 was spent on acquiring and outfitting new patrol vehicles. Public Safety salary
expenditures also increased as positions continued to be filled pursuant to the public safety mill levy beginning in 2009. Police personnel costs (net of State
Share of Retirement) increased by $289,398, or 5.6%, from $5,181,179 last year to $5,470,577. Fire Department personnel costs (net of State Share of
Retirement) increased by $313,434, or 8.5%, from $3,669,662 last year to $3,983,096.

Also contributing to the strength and relative stability of the General Fund balance is the utilization of conservative budgetary practices. Conservative, yet
realistic, revenue estimates, combined with departments operating within their original budgets, naturally has a favorable effect on the bottom line. Maintaining
adequate reserves has several internal and external benefits. Internally, reserves can provide for cash flow needs until property tax revenues are received,
reducing or eliminating the need for cash flow borrowing; provide funds to leverage state or federal grants; and provide for the unexpected. Externally,
reserves tend to be viewed favorably by investors, rating agencies, and local banks with which we do business, thus benefiting rating and the potential need for
lines of credit.

The City’s General Fund balance was a primary focus of a recent bond ratings when Moody’s Investor Services assigned a debt rating of Aa3 in November of
2013 and a rating of Aa3 “Positive Outlook” in November of 2014 for the two issuances of Trails, Open Space and Parks general obligation bonds. This
affirmed Moody’s rating assigned in May, 2012 of Aa3 rating to the City’s General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012, issued in the amount of $3.1
million. At the same time, Moody's also affirmed the Aa3 rating on the city's rated outstanding general obligation debt not being refunded by this issue, which
included $.6 million outstanding for the 2003 refinancing of the City’s General Obligation Transportation Bonds and the remaining bonds issued in 2003 for the
new Library. In each instance bond analysts looked favorably on the amount and trend of the General Fund balance in determining the City’s bond rating.

As shown on page 95, variances in the General Fund between the original budget and the final budget appropriations totaled $601,990, which increased the
original appropriation budget of $26,856,548 up to $27,458,538. Approximately $249,000 of this increase was for the non-cash “book entry only” expenditure
previously discussed for the Public Safety budget in order to record the additional amount of the State’s share of Police and Firefighter retirement in excess of
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the $1.9 million that was initially budgeted. As stated, this entire expenditure, including the amount requiring a budget amendment, is offset/“reimbursed” by
intergovernmental revenue booked in the same amount. By design, the $1.9 million of appropriation authority was initially budgeted under General
Government and then later moved to the Public Safety budget at year-end, at which time the $249,124 additional amount necessary to cover Police and
Firefighter retirement was added as a true amendment to increase appropriation authority. This $249,124 combined with the $1.9 million shift from General
Government accounts for the $2.1 million overall increase to the Public Safety budget, and it also explains the $1.9 million reduction in the budget for General
Government. The $257,821 amendment to the Capital outlay budget is related to carryover from the prior year for design and engineering of the previously
mentioned Police-Court Justice Center.

Street Impact Fees Special Revenue Fund balance decreased by $432,276, or 4.1%, from $10,226,240 last year to $9,793,964 this year. Revenues actually
increased by $385,292, or 15.1%, from $2,549,257 to $2,934,549 due to an upturn in construction and development. Construction activity for the year which
required the payment of impact fees included $513,000 for the Sundance Apartments at Baxter Meadows, $157,608 for Country Inn & Suites, $79,693 for the
new Town Pump Gas Station & Convenience Center, and $63,144 for HRDC’s West Edge Condominiums. However, expenditures exceeded revenues for the
year by $432,276 mainly due to the City’s contribution of $3.3 million to the widening and reconstruction of College Street between 19" Avenue and Main
Street/Huffine Lane.

Street Maintenance Special Revenue Fund balance increased by $215,803, or 12.3%, from $1,761,976 last year to $1,977,779 this year due to revenues
exceeding expenditures, even though the increase in expenditures was larger than the increase in revenues. Street Assessment total revenues increased by
$258,603, or 8.7%, from $2,982,313 last year to $3,240,916 this year. Driving this was continued expansion of the City’s Street Maintenance Assessment
program to include major street reconstruction projects; the first being the reconstruction of South 8th Avenue completed this year. With the Commission’s
focused goal of addressing deferred street and curb maintenance, Street Maintenance Assessment rates were increased three years ago by 18%, with the 18%
allocated as follows: Continued increase to Curb Replacement Fund (2%); Debt Service Payments for the Reconstruction of South 8th Avenue (7%);
Establishment of a Street Reconstruction Fund (6%); and Increase in Operating Budget (3%). Continuing the City Commission’s goal of addressing deferred
street maintenance, this year rates were increased 6.9% allocated as follows: 2% continued increase to Curb Replacement Fund, resulting in a $54,000 annual
increase; 3% increase to a Street Reconstruction Reserve, resulting in a $75,000 annual increase; 1.9% increase for Other Operating needs, resulting in a
$50,000 annual increase.

Expenditures increased considerably this year by $881,521, or 40.1%, from $2,167,287 to $3,048,808. Major costs included $174,000 for the purchase of a
new flex-fuel low-emission low-decibel Caterpillar front-end loader to replace the existing 1978 loader, $123,523 to finish up the reconstruction of South 8%
Avenue, and $122,188 spent on the Micropaver Asset Management System. Additionally, debt service expenditures increased significantly this year by
$114,388, or 162%, year from $70,531 to $184,919 due mainly to new debt issued to help fund the reconstruction of South 8" Avenue.

Building Inspection Special Revenue The City’s Building Inspection division again experienced strong permit issuance over the past year. While never
completely stopping, building construction significantly slowed during the recession. However, this year the total value of Building Permits for New
Construction, upon which most permit revenue calculation are based, was 136% of the previous year. Accordingly, fund balance increased by $262,191, or
23.2%, from $1,132,359 last year to $1,394,550 this year Revenues increased by $150,695, or 11.3%, from $1,333,048 last year to $1,483,743 this year due to
this revived increase in construction and other activity requiring a Building Permit. Total expenditures increased only moderately by $15,379, or 1.3%, from
$1,206,173 last year to $1,221,552 this year. However, last year’s expenditures included $226,788 for capital purchases of technology equipment, including
hardware and software for electronic plan review, mobile field inspections, and an online permit portal. ~The reason this year’s expenditure level kept pace is
not due to continued capital outlays (only $27,610 this year) but instead due to a $123,847, or 17.4%, increase in personnel costs for the hiring of additional
Building Inspectors.
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SID Sinking Debt Service Fund balance increased by $371,965, or 42%, from $886,462 last year to $1,258,427 this year. Revenues from Special
Improvement District (SID) assessment collections along with fund interest income and other income amounted to $1,063,253 which is $226,183, or 27%,
higher than last year’s $837,070. This marked increase was due to a payoff (paying the entire amount due instead of choosing to pay installments annually) of
the Valley Center Road/North 19" Avenue Special Improvement District (SID) by Gallatin Center this year. Total expenditures actually decreased this year by
$206,413, or 27.4%, from $754,173 to $547,760 because more SID debt was paid off by the City last year than in the current year. When enough cash has
accumulated in the SID Sinking Funds due to regularly-scheduled repayments, or due to one-time payoffs such as the Gallatin Center, the City can choose to
call/pay some of its SID bonds early to avoid future interest costs. Because of the timing of these bond calls and the minimum amounts that can be called, this
doesn’t always necessarily occur in the same year that the customer makes a payoff. So any bond call made by the City related to the Gallatin Center payoff
won’t occur until next year.

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets As shown in Table 4, at the end of 2014 the City had $352.8 million invested in a broad range of capital assets, including police and fire
equipment, buildings, park facilities, roads, and water and sewer lines. This amount represents a net increase (including additions and deductions) of roughly
$17.5 million, or 5.2% over last year. Refer to capital assets disclosure Note 7 beginning on page 59 for more information.

Table 4
Capital Assets at Year-end
(in Millions)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Land $ 1.1 3 105 § 49 $ 49 $ 16.0 § 15.4
Water Rights - - 2.1 21 F 2.1 2.1
Buildings 32.1 31.2 111.6 108.9 143.7 140.1
Other Structures and Improvements 1.2 1.2 30.8 30.8 32.0 32.0
Machinery & Equipment 11.2 9.7 6.8 6.7 18.0 F 16.4
Property under Capital Lease 0.3 0.3 - - 0.3 0.3
Vehicle 3.3 3.1 1.8 1.9 5.1 5.0
Infrastructure 141.8 133.0 260.8 252.6 402.6 ¥ 385.6

Subtotal 201.0 189.0 418.8 407.9 619.8 596.9
Accumulated Depreciation (92.8) (89.3) (174.2) (172.2) (267.0) (261.5)

Total Capital Assets $ 108.2 § 99.7 § 244.6 $ 235.7 § 352.8 $ 335.4
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Major additions and projects underway include the following expenditures made during this year:

Water Plant Construction - final payments: state of the art membrane filtration system S 5,537,041
College Street widening and reconstruction: Main St. to 19th Ave - City's Share of MT Dept of Transp. Project S 3,392,247
Sewer Rehabilitation and Repair - annual collection pipe replacement program S 1,382,832
2013 Sutphen Ladder Truck for the Fire Department S 1,159,106
Water Line Replacement and Rehabilitation - annual distribution pipe replacement program S 745,292
TOP Bonds: Trails, Open Space and Parks - Bozeman Ponds Land Purchase on Fowler Lane S 607,119
Police Station and Municipal Court Shared Facility: Architectural and Design Services S 473,016
Street Improvements - Gas Tax S 444,497
Lenco Bearcat G3 Armored Vehicle for the Police Department S 250,093
North 7th Avenue Tax Increment Financing District Lighting project S 235,629
Police Patrol Car Fleet Renewal: multiple SUV's and cars accessorized with technology and equipment S 310,741
Development Impacts "Big Box" Fund Contribution to Haynes Ice Pavilion at Gallatin County Fairgrounds S 175,000
Lindley Park Restroom Upgrade S 174,211
Caterpillar Front End Loader for Street Department S 174,024
Water Reclamation Facility post-construction project payments S 169,712
Micropaver Asset Management System for Street Department S 122,188
Bogert Swimming Pool Boiler Replacement S 113,606

Debt

At year-end, the City had $58.1 million in bonds and notes outstanding versus $47.0 million last year — a notable increase of $11.2 million, or 23.8%, as shown
in Table 5. This increase was primarily due to the $9.9 million in general obligation bonds issued for the $15 million voter-approved Trails Open Space and
Parks (TOP) program. The remaining $5.1 million will be issued next year. General obligation debt, which is reported under Governmental Activities,
consists of this $9.9 million for the TOP Bonds along with $1.8 million in Series 2012 Refunding Bonds issued to refinance both the Series 2003A
Transportation Refunding bonds and the Series 2001 A and Series 2003B Library Construction Project bonds. Debt reported under Business-Type Activities
includes $18.1 million of water revenue bonds and $21 million of wastewater revenue bonds issued to finance construction of the new Water Treatment and
Wastewater Reclamation Facilities.

Moody’s Investor Services assigned a debt rating of Aa3 in November of 2013 for the first issuance of TOP general obligation bonds. Moody’s views the
city’s financial operations as sound, noting in their report that City officials have delivered operating surpluses in four of the last five audited financial years
and that the City has a moderately-sized tax base that did not decline during the recession, in addition to a low debt burden. This affirmed the rating assigned
by Moody’s in May, 2012 of Aa3 to the City’s General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012, issued in the amount of $3.1 million.

As expressed in the fiscal year 2015 Approved Budget, City officials expect to end next fiscal year with general fund reserves totaling $4.7 million, or 17.9%
ofoperating revenues. This exceeds the minimum level of 16 2/3% required by City Charter, which in May of 2011 was amended to include adoption of
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GFOA'’s Best Practice for Unreserved General Fund Balance into the City’s Budget Administration Ordinance. Property taxes are the City's primary general
revenue source (67.8%), followed by unrestricted grants and contributions (28.7%), and investment earnings (1.4%) Moody's expects the City to maintain a
moderate debt position given current moderate debt burdens, above average principal payout, and expected tax base growth. More detailed information about
the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 9 to the financial statements.

Table 5
Outstanding Debt, at Year-end
(in Millions)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

General Obligation

Bonds (backed by the City) $ 1.7 $ 24§ - 3 - 3 1.7 $ 2.4
Tax Increment Financing

District (TIFD) bonds 5.0 5.2 - - 5.0 5.2
Special Improvement

District Debt 1.2 1.8 - - 1.2 1.8
Notes Payable 1.1 1.2 - - 1.1 1.2
Lease Payable 0.1 0.1 - - 0.1 0.1
Water Revenue Bonds

(backed by specific fee revenues) - - 18.1 13.8 18.1 13.8
Wastewater Revenue Bonds

(backed by specific fee revenues) - - 21.0 22.5 21.0 22.5

Totals $ 19.1 $ 10.7 S 39.1 Fs 363 $ 58.1 $ 47.0
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The City’s elected and appointed officials considered many factors when adopting the 2014-2015 budget for next fiscal year’s tax rates and fees that will be
charged for the business-type activities. Some of these factors include: capital improvements identified in the City’s Capital Improvement Program; inflation
rates, the City’s collective bargaining units, the local economy, and the citizen’s ability to pay. For the year, inflation rates continued to remain at relatively
low yet increasing levels. The Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor reported that over the year US annual inflation rate was recorded at
1.7 percent, the smallest advance in 5 years, as the fall in energy prices was enough to offset higher food and shelter cost. Inflation rates will also impact the
cost of future City capital projects.

CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors and creditors with a general overview of the City’s finances and to
show the City’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional information, contact the City’s
Administrative Services Director, Controller, or Assistant Controller at the City of Bozeman, 121 North Rouse Avenue, Bozeman, Montana 59715.
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CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2014
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
ASSETS
Cash and investments 36,304,485 $ 17,095,305 $ 53,399,790
Restricted cash and investments 11,409,933 4,379,735 15,789,668
Accrued interest 63,981 23,361 87,342
Receivables, net 7,728,962 1,622,960 9,351,922
Notes receivable 326,570 15,924 342,494
Prepaid expenses 388,875 - 388,875
Capital assets
Non-depreciable land and water rights 11,127,553 6,999,716 18,127,269
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 97,144,914 237,667,206 334,812,120
Total capital assets 108,272,467 244,666,922 352,939,389
Total assets 164,495,273 267,804,207 432,299,480
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4,365,581 2,962,675 7,328,256
Unearned revenue 106,450 - 106,450
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Compensated absences payable 1,198,200 349,700 1,547,900
Capital leases 33,495 - 33,495
Closure and post-closure care costs - 177,873 177,873
Litigation settlement payable 666,667 - 666,667
Bonds and notes 803,122 1,825,000 2,628,122
Long-term liabilities, due in more than one year
Compensated absences 510,667 168,311 678,978
Capital leases 60,681 - 60,681
Closure and post-closure care costs - 4,061,974 4,061,974
Pollution remediation obligations 16,874 2,939,057 2,955,931
Other post-employment health benefits - implicit rate subsidy 1,548,659 381,415 1,930,074
Bonds and notes 18,168,774 37,340,565 55,509,339
Total liabilities 27,479,170 50,206,570 77,685,740
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 89,267,076 205,501,357 294,768,433
Nonspendable 1,269,557 - 1,269,557
Restricted:
Restricted for parking capital projects - 270,450 270,450
Restricted for general government 954,556 - 954,556
Restricted for public safety 2,349,030 - 2,349,030
Restricted for public service 13,219,766 - 13,219,766
Restricted for public welfare 4,686,271 - 4,686,271
Restricted for capital projects 9,369,420 - 9,369,420
Restricted for debt service 7,314,913 3,102,477 10,417,390
Unrestricted 8,585,514 8,723,353 17,308,867
Total net position 137,016,103 $ 217,597,637 $ 354,613,740

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2014

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Operating Capital Primary Government
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Primary Government
Governmental activities
General government $ 6,989,830 $§ 2,453,015 $ -3 - 8 (4,536,815) $  (4,536,815)
Public safety 15,297,088 3,290,573 362,670 249,537 (11,394,308) (11,394,308)
Public service 6,031,768 7,623,178 - 4,472,963 6,064,373 6,064,373
Public welfare 7,417,158 613,322 94,684 39,916 (6,669,236) (6,669,236)
Interest and fiscal fees 179,280 - - - (179,280) (179,280)
Total governmental activities 35,915,124 13,980,088 457,354 4,762,416 (16,715,266) (16,715,266)
Business-type activities
Water 6,869,870 9,842,699 1,494 3,137,978 $ 6,112,301 6,112,301
Waste water 8,955,592 8,462,038 1,575 2,760,945 2,268,966 2,268,966
Solid waste 6,958,209 2,725,465 1,002 - (4,231,742) (4,231,742)
Non major activities 966,454 872,325 5,525 - (88,604) (88,604)
Total business-type activities 23,750,125 21,902,527 9,596 5,898,923 4,060,921 4,060,921
Total primary government $ 59,665,249 § 35,882,615 § 466,950 $ 10,661,339 (16,715,266) 4,060,921 (12,654,345)
General revenues
Property taxes 17,561,022 - 17,561,022
Unrestricted grants and contributions 7,436,419 - 7,436,419
Investment earnings 355,790 - 355,790
M iscellaneous 293,884 - 293,884
Sale of capital assets 236,688 - 236,688
ARRA debt forgiveness - 390,700 390,700
Transfers (10,000) 10,000 -
Total general revenues and transfers 25,873,803 400,700 26,274,503
Change in net position 9,158,537 4,461,621 13,620,158
Net position, beginning of the year 127,857,566 213,136,016 340,993,582
Net position, end of the year $ 137,016,103 $ 217,597,637 $ 354,613,740

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.



FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



GOVERNMENTAL FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

General Fund — the fund accounts for the financial operations of the City which are not accounted for in any other Fund. Principal sources of
revenue are property taxes, state and local shared revenues, licenses and permits and charges for services provided to other Funds. Principal
expenditures in the general fund are made for police and fire protection, public works and general government.

Street Impact Fees Special Revenue Fund — this Fund accounts for the collection and expenditures associated with the street impact fees.

Street Maintenance — Accounts for special assessment revenues levied, received and expended for street maintenance provided to specific property
owners.

Building Inspection — This Fund was established to account for all activity of enforcing the building regulation adopted by the City. It includes all
the money and staff associated with executing any aspect of the code enforcement program. Section 50-60-101 MCA established the code
enforcement program requirement.

SID Sinking Debt Service Fund - the Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources and payment of special assessment bond principal and
interest related to general improvement, sidewalk and curb construction projects.




CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2014

Street Street Building SID Other Total
General Impact Fees Maintenance Inspection Sinking Governmental Governmental

Fund Special Revenue  Special Revenue  Special Revenue Debt Service Funds Funds

ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 8,314,832 § - § 2085470 $ 1,427,347  $ 1,405,621 § 22,368,796 $§ 35,602,066
Receivables:

Property taxes 1,039,927 - - - - 387,535 1,427,462
Accrued interest 10,281 23,658 3,773 3,126 - 23,143 63,981
Customers, net 1,934,272 - 3,073 112 - 663,650 2,601,107
Special assessments 276 - 151,567 - 3,349,159 47,806 3,548,808
Other governments 7,701 - - - - 127,896 135,597
Advances to other city funds - - - - - 131,726 131,726
Prepaid expenditures - - - - - 388,875 388,875
Notes receivable - - - - - 326,570 326,570
Restricted cash and investments - 9,772,303 - - - 1,637,630 11,409,933

Total assets $§ 11,307,289 § 9,795,961 § 2,243,883 $ 1,430,585  § 4,754,780 § 26,103,627 § 55,636,125




LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Escheat property payable
Matured interest payable
Accrued employ ee benefits
Advanced from other city funds
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources
Unavailable revenue-property taxes
Unavailable revenue-special assessments
Unavailable revenue-deferred loans
Unavailable revenue-court fines
Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2014

Street Street Building SID Other Total
General Impact Fees Maintenance Inspection Sinking Governmental Governmental

Fund Special Revenue  Special Revenue  Special Revenue Debt Service Funds Funds
$ 2,436,595  § 1,997 $ 150,720 $ 24,492 3 29,617  $ 1,304,431 $ 3,947,852
47,219 - - - - 17,774 64,993
258,295 - 14,290 11,543 - 17,460 301,588
- - - - 131,726 - 131,726
2,742,109 1,997 165,010 36,035 161,343 1,339,665 4,446,159
228,811 - - - - 104,207 333,018
- - 101,094 - 3,335,010 15,096 3,451,200
- - - - - 326,570 326,570
1,722,075 - - - - - 1,722,075
1,950,886 - 101,094 - 3,335,010 445,873 5,832,863
- - - - - 1,269,557 1,269,557
- 9,793,964 1,977,779 1,394,550 1,258,427 19,927,526 34,352,246
- - - - - 3,075,505 3,075,505
6,420,760 - - - - 229,602 6,650,362
193,534 - - - - (184,101) 9,433
6,614,294 9,793,964 1,977,779 1,394,550 1,258,427 24,318,089 45,357,103
$ 11,307,289 $ 9,795,961  § 2,243883 § 1,430,585  § 4,754,780 $§ 26,103,627 $§ 55,636,125




CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2014

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are
different because:

Fund balances - total governmental funds

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported
in the governmental funds.

Governmental capital assets

Less: accumulated depreciation

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities to individual
funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental activities
in the statement of net position.

Net position

Less: capital assets included in governmental activities

Plus: accumulated depreciation included in governmental activities

Plus: other post-employment benefits included in governmental activities

Plus: compensated absences included in governmental activities

Deferred inflows of resources are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore,
are deferred in the funds.

Impact fee credits do not affect current financial resources and therefore are not reported in the
governmental funds.

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not rep orted
in the governmental funds.

Bonds and notes payable

Capital lease obligations

Pollution remediation obligations

Post-employment health benefits

Legal settlement

Compensated absences

Net position of governmental activities

$ 45,357,103
201,064,643
(92,792,176) 108,272,467
1,844,048
(1,639,697)
418,748
23,645
20,515 667,259
5,832,863
(106,450)
(18,971,896)
(94,176)
(16,874)
(1,548,659)
(666,667)
(1,708,867) (23,007,139)
$ 137,016,103
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REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Loan repay ment
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government
Public safety
Public service
Public welfare
Other

Capital outlay

Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal fees
Total expenditures

Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Long-term debt issued
Sale of capital assets
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
FUND BALANCE, beginning of year
FUND BALANCE, end of year

CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNEMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Street Street Building SID Other Total
Impact Fees Maaintenance Inspection Sinking Governmental Governmental
General Special Revenue  Special Revenue  Special Revenue Debt Service Funds Funds

12,509,422 § - 3 - $ - 8 - 3 4875949 $ 17,385,371
4,268 - 24,283 - 1,054,483 928,910 2,011,944
313,264 - 25,091 1,445,927 - - 1,784,282
6,570,978 - 1,008 23,141 - 1,613,643 8,208,770
2,395,464 2,838,071 3,163,630 1,911 - 1,257,047 9,656,123
1,291,245 - - - 119,917 1,411,162
41,578 95,678 15,714 12,643 8,770 154,703 329,086

- - - - - 63,980 63,980

122,699 800 11,190 121 - 152,279 287,089
23,248,918 2,934,549 3,240,916 1,483,743 1,063,253 9,166,428 41,137,807
5,343,067 - - - - 795,508 6,138,575
12,927,866 - - 1,193,942 - 516,078 14,637,886
319,377 18,345 2,561,885 - - 599,163 3,498,770
4,881,542 - - - - 1,796,805 6,678,347
961,124 - - - - 85,588 1,046,712
1,401,317 3,348,480 302,004 27,610 - 2,974,045 8,053,456
- - 168,142 - 474,000 840,000 1,482,142

- - 16,777 - 73,760 290,413 380,950
25,834,293 3,366,825 3,048,808 1,221,552 547,760 7,897,600 41,916,838
(2,585,375) (432,276) 192,108 262,191 515,493 1,268,828 (779,031)
2,193,678 - - - - 910,109 3,103,787
(326,756) - - - (143,528) (2,643,503) (3,113,787)

- - - - - 10,012,647 10,012,647

5,372 - 23,695 - - 214,025 243,092
1,872,294 - 23,695 - (143,528) 8,493,278 10,245,739
(713,081) (432,276) 215,803 262,191 371,965 9,762,106 9,466,708
7,327,375 10,226,240 1,761,976 1,132,359 886,462 14,555,983 35,890,395
6,614294 § 9,793,964 $ 1,977,779 $ 1,394,550 3 1,258,427  § 24,318,089 $ 45,357,103
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CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
OF GOVERNEMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITES
Year Ended June 30, 2014

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 9,466,708

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the cost
of these assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is
the amount by which depreciation expense exceeded capital outlays in the current period.

Expenditures for capital assets $ 8,053,456
Donated infrastructure 4,447,151
Less: current year depreciation (3,961,359) 8,539,248

Governmental funds report asset disposals as sale of fixed assets for the cash received. In the statement of
activities, those gains and losses must be adjusted by the assets basis, net of any depreciation. (7,529)

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to governmental funds,

while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of

governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds

these amounts report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas

are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities, unless immaterial. This amount is the net effect of these

differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items. (8,720,352)

Some revenues reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported as revenues in governmental funds. (748,473)

Governmental funds do not report a liability for compensated absences. The change in the liability is a current
period expense. (164,373)

Governmental funds do not report a liability for other post-employment health benefits. (69,026)

Governmental funds do not recognize a liability for long-term legal settlements. The current year payment
was recorded as an expenditure in the governmental funds. The liability and expense was previously accrued
in the governmental activities. 666,667

Governmental funds do not report impact fee credits. The change in these credits during the year are charged
to the statement of activities. 5,515

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities to individual funds. The
net revenue of the internal service funds is reported in the governmental activities. 190,152

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 9,158,537




PROPRIETARY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



PROPRIETARY FUNDS

These funds are used to account for the financing, acquisition, operation and maintenance of water, sewer and solid waste facilities, which are
supported by user charges.

Enterprise Funds —

Water Fund — Accounts for the City’s water utility operations and to collect and administer water impact fees.

Waste Water Fund — Accounts for the City’s sewer utility operations and to collect and administer waste water impact fees.

Solid Waste Fund — Accounts for the City’s garbage service operations.

Internal Service Funds — used to account for the goods and services provided by one department to other departments of the City on a cost-
reimbursement basis.




ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and investments

Receivables
Accrued interest
Customers, net
Special assessments

Total current assets

Non current assets
Other assets
Notes receivable
Restricted cash and investments
Total other assets

Property, plant and equipment
Nondepreciable:
Land
Water rights
Depreciable:
Buildings

Other structures and improvements

M achinery and equip ment
Vehicles
Infrastructure

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net property, plant and equipment

Total non current assets

Total assets

CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2014

Business-type Activities Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities
Waste Solid Non M ajor Internal

Water Fund Water Fund Waste Fund Enterprise Funds Total Service Funds

$ 12,665,223 $ 2,505,870  $ 1,792,276  $ 131,936 $§ 17,095,305 702,419

19,916 - 3,445 - 23,361 -

642,721 628,169 237,006 114,326 1,622,222 15,988

139 55 544 - 738 -

13,327,999 3,134,094 2,033,271 246,262 18,741,626 718,407

- - - 15,924 15,924 -

2,195,560 1,913,725 - 270,450 4,379,735 -

2,195,560 1,913,725 - 286,374 4,395,659 -

162,518 754,043 3,714,577 303,436 4,934,574 -

2,065,142 - - - 2,065,142 -

39,603,915 59,534,338 868,302 11,629,362 111,635,917 1,388,583

13,907,432 14,745,401 2,155,300 - 30,808,133 -

1,343,122 2,582,828 2,613,695 258,196 6,797,841 167,302

449,076 711,682 529,231 158,581 1,848,570 83,812

159,498,382 101,220,253 78,531 - 260,797,166 -
(97,294,170) (68,218,589) (5,551,796) (3,155,866) (174,220,421) (418,748)

119,735,417 111,329,956 4,407,840 9,193,709 244,666,922 1,220,949

121,930,977 113,243,681 4,407,840 9,480,083 249,062,581 1,220,949

$ 135,258,976 $§ 116,377,775  $ 6,441,111  § 9,726,345  § 267,804,207 1,939,356

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integeral part of this statement.



LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Compensated absences pay able

Closure and post-closure care costs, current portion

Bonds, notes, and loans payable
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Closure and post-closure care costs
Revenue bonds due after one year
Compensated absences pay able
Other post-employment health benefits -
implicit rate subsidy
Solvent site remediation liability
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for parking capital projects
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities and net position

CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (CONTINUED)
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2014
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Business-type Activities Governmental

Enterprise Funds Activities

Waste Solid Non Major Internal

Water Fund Water Fund Waste Fund Enterprise Funds Total Service Funds
$ 1,985,763  § 624,418 $ 326,504  $ 25990 § 2,962,675 $ 51,148
96,753 174,092 57,715 21,140 349,700 -
- - 177,873 - 177,873 -
780,000 1,045,000 - - 1,825,000 -
2,862,516 1,843,510 562,092 47,130 5,315,248 51,148
- - 4,061,974 - 4,061,974 -
17,360,000 19,980,565 - - 37,340,565 -
111,935 13,712 42,664 - 168,311 20,515
162,735 109,068 80,885 28,727 381,415 23,645
- 2,939,057 - - 2,939,057 -
17,634,670 23,042,402 4,185,523 28,727 44,891,322 44,160
20,497,186 24,885,912 4,747,615 75,857 50,206,570 95,308
101,595,417 90,304,391 4,407,840 9,193,709 205,501,357 1,220,949
- - - 270,450 270,450 -
1,313,885 1,788,592 - - 3,102,477 -
11,852,488 (601,120) (2,714,344) 186,329 8,723,353 623,099
114,761,790 91,491,863 1,693,496 9,650,488 217,597,637 1,844,048
$ 135,258,976 $§ 116,377,775 $ 6,441,111  $ 9,726,345 $ 267,804,207 $ 1,939,356

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integeral part of this statement.



CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2014

Business-type Activities Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities
Waste Solid Non Major Internal
Water Fund Water Fund Waste Fund Enterprise Funds Totals Service Funds
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 7,871,386  § 7,204,486 $ 2,679,884  $ 865,619 § 18,621,375 § 5,066,443
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and benefits 2,039,652 2,129,310 1,131,551 368,604 5,669,117 327,186
M aterials and supplies 889,831 337,710 402,906 45,398 1,675,845 609,048
Repairs and maintenance 36,658 233,158 226,705 9,302 505,823 7,938
Utilities 217,547 469,247 407,783 30,848 1,125,425 5,028
Administrative charges 750,054 617,187 278,873 61,736 1,707,850 56,916
Insurance claims - - - - - 3,775,898
Other expenses 471,722 2,109,139 1,598,279 135,432 4,314,572 108,916
Depreciation and amortization 2,034,968 2,399,070 149,465 315,134 4,898,637 54,197
Changes in estimated closure and post-
closure care costs - - 2,762,647 - 2,762,647 -
Total operating expenses 6,440,432 8,294,821 6,958,209 966,454 22,659,916 4,945,127
Operating income (loss) 1,430,954 (1,090,335) (4,278,325) (100,835) (4,038,541) 121,316
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest income 74,661 12,689 19,899 2,363 109,612 3,425
Interest expense (429,438) (660,771) - - (1,090,209) (370)
Other income 56,467 105,415 21,351 4,343 187,576 6,795
Intergovernmental income 1,494 1,575 1,002 5,525 9,596 -
Impact fees 1,839,502 1,139,448 - - 2,978,950 -
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 683 - 4331 - 5,014 1,125
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 1,543,369 598,356 46,583 12,231 2,200,539 10,975
Income (loss) before contributions and transfers 2,974,323 (491,979) (4,231,742) (88,604) (1,838,002) 132,291
Contributions of infrastructure - developers 3,137,978 2,760,945 - - 5,898,923 -
ARRA debt forgiveness - 390,700 - - 390,700 -
Transfers in - - - 10,000 10,000 -
Change in net position 6,112,301 2,659,666 (4,231,742) (78,604) 4,461,621 132,291
NET POSITION, beginning of year 108,649,489 88,832,197 5,925,238 9,729,092 213,136,016 1,711,757
NET POSITION, end of year $ 114,761,790 $§ 91,491,863 $ 1,693,496  § 9,650,488 $§ 217,597,637 $ 1,844,048

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integeral part of this statement.



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers
Receipts from others
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Payments to internal service funds and administrative fees

Net cash flows from operating activities

CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
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CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers in

Receipts from grants and intergovernmental sources
Net cash flows from non-capital financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets
Principal paid on bonds, interfund loans, loans and

Interest paid on bonds, interfund loans, loans and leases

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Impact fees received

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Collections on notes
Interest on investments
Net cash flows from investing activities

Net change in cash and investments
Cash and investments, beginning of year

Cash and investments, end of year

Classified as:
Cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments

Totals

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2014
Business-type Activities Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities
Waste Solid Nonmajor Internal

Water Fund Water Fund Waste Fund Funds Total Service Funds

$ 7,831,611 § 7,149,406 $ 2,679,447 $ 795,879 $ 18,456,343 $ 5,004,611
56,467 105,415 21,351 4,343 187,576 6,795
(3,165,997) (2,249,580) (2,423,350) (242,596) (8,081,523) (719,272)
(2,053,481) (2,070,228) (1,129,557) (355,344) (5,608,610) (4,099,420)
(750,054) (617,187) (278,873) (61,736) (1,707,850) (56,916)
1,918,546 2,317,826 (1,130,982) 140,546 3,245,936 195,798

- - - 10,000 10,000 -

2,177 1,575 5,333 5,525 14,610 -

2,177 1,575 5,333 15,525 24,610 -
(6,386,197) (1,616,569) - (16,317) (8,019,083) (16,980)
leases 4,388,122 (1,084,854) - - 3,303,268 -
(429,438) (660,771) - - (1,090,209) (370)
1,839,502 1,139,448 - - 2,978,950 -
(588,011) (2,222,746) - (16,317) (2,827,074) (17,350)

. - . 2,383 2,383 -

86,735 31,401 18,771 2,363 139,270 3,425

86,735 31,401 18,771 4,746 141,653 3,425
1,419,447 128,056 (1,106,378) 144,500 585,125 181,873
13,441,336 4,291,539 2,899,154 257,886 20,889,915 459,251

$ 14,860,783 § 4,419,595 § 1,792,276 $ 402,386 § 21,475,040 $ 641,124
$ 12,665,223 $ 2,505,870 $ 1,792,276 $ 131,936 $ 17,095,305 $ 702,419
2,195,560 1,913,725 - 270,450 4,379,735 -

$ 14,860,783 $ 4,419,595 § 1,792,276 $ 402,386 $§ 21,475,040 S 702,419

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integeral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2014
Business-type Activities Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities
Waste Solid Nonmajor Internal
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO Water Fund Water Fund Waste Fund Funds Total Service Funds
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (loss) $ 1,430,954 $ (1,090,335) $ (4,278,325) $ (100,835) $ (4,038,541) § 121,316
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 2,034,968 2,399,070 149,465 315,134 4,898,637 54,197
Change in estimated closure
and post-closure care costs - - 2,754,601 - 2,754,601 -
Change in solvent site remediation obligation - 1,256,304 - - 1,256,304 -
Other income 56,466 105,415 21,351 4,343 187,575 6,795
Change in Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in:
Accounts receivable (39,774) (55,080) (437) (69,740) (165,031) (1,832)
Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable (1,550,239) (356,630) 220,369 463 (1,686,037) 25,746
Accrued employee benefits payable (13,829) 59,082 1,994 13,260 60,507
Interfund Borrowings - - - (22,079) (22,079) (10,424)
Total adjustments 487,592 3,408,161 3,147,343 241,381 7,284,477 74,482
Net cash from
operating activities $ 1,918,546  $ 2,317,826 $ (1,130,982) § 140,546  $ 3,245936  $ 195,798

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integeral part of this statement.



FIDUCIARY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



FIDUCIARY FUINDS

AGENCY FUNDS

Agency Funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments and/or other
funds.

Montana Arts Council — Accounts for pass-through grant monies given for use by the Montana Arts Council for various programs.

Municipal Court — Accounts for monies held for appearance bonds and restitution.

CMC Bozeman Site Remediation - Accounts for pass-through monies provided by the State of Montana Department of Environmental

Quality to Olive & Wallace, LLC, to reimburse the cost of work performed as part of the Voluntary Cleanup Plan of the CMC Asbestos
Bozeman Facility.




CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITIONS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
June 30, 2014

Agency
Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 353326
Customer receivables 2,278
Total assets $ 355,604
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 355,604
Total liabilities $ 355,604

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2014

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Bozeman of Gallatin County, Montana (the City) was incorporated as a municipal corporation in 1883. The present City Code of
Ordinances was adopted October 3, 2011. Under the charter, the City is governed by a mayor and commission members who comprise the City
Commission. The day-to-day affairs of the City are conducted under the supervision of the City Manager, who is appointed by and serves at the
pleasure of a majority of the City Commission.

The accompanying financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as
prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental
accounting and financial reporting principles. In June 1999 the GASB issued Statement 34 Basic Financial Statements-and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments (GASB 34). This Statement establishes new financial reporting requirements for state
and local governments throughout the United States. It requires new information and restructures much of the information that governments have
presented in the past. Comparability with reports issued in prior years is affected.

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position of the City and the various funds and fund types, the results of operations of
the City and the various funds and fund types, and the cash flows of the proprietary funds. The financial statements are presented as of June 30,
2014, and for the year then ended.

The more significant accounting policies of the City are described below.

New Accounting Pronouncements

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, the City implemented GASB Statement 65, ltems Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. This
Statement establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of
resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities and recognizes, as outflows of resources or inflows of resources,
certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities.

Reporting Entity

The City has considered all potential component units for which it is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the City are such that exclusion would cause the City’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability in Statement 14 The
Financial Reporting Entity and Statement 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus — an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34.
These criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body and (1) the ability of the City to impose its will on that
organization or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the City.
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CITY OF BOZEMAN, MONTANA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
June 30, 2014

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Reporting Entity (Continued)

Although the following entities meet the requirements of Statement 61, they are strictly advisory in nature. Therefore, the government-wide
financial statements do not include the financial information of the following entities and their omission does not cause the City’s financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete. Should there develop a financial element at some point in the future, the City shall include these
entities on its government-wide financial statements.

Senior Center Advisory Council - This council is advisory in nature on senior issues and on how to run the City-owned Senior Center
building. The City is responsible for the maintenance and operation of the building.

Blended Component Units
The following have been presented as blended component units since their governing bodies are substantially the same as the primary
government’s government body and because their services are provided entirely or almost entirely to the primary government.

Parking Commission - The City Commission appoints the governing board of the Parking Commission, which was created by ordinance.
The City owns the parking lots, collects the rents and assigns the lots to the individuals.

City Planning Board - The agreement forming the City Planning Board holds that it will submit its budget to the City Commission for
approval and the City provides all accounting functions and is responsible for the issuance of debt. It is presented with the Special Revenue
Funds.

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each
fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures or
expenses, as appropriate. Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they
are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The Government-Wide Financial Statements (the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) present information of all the non-
fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. These statements present summaries of Governmental and Business-Type
Activities for the City accompanied by a total column.

These statements are presented on an “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of the City’s
assets and liabilities, including capital assets and long-term liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position. The City has
retroactively included infrastructure in its assets.
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus (Continued)

Government-Wide Financial Statements (Continued)

The Statement of Activities presents changes in Net Position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in
which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. The types of transactions reported as program
revenues for the City are reported in three categories: 1) charges for services, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions.

Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB 34 in regards to inter-fund activities, payables and receivables. All internal balances
in the Statement of Net Position have been eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental activities and the business-
type activities, which are presented as internal balances and eliminated in the total primary government column. In the Statement of Activities,
internal service fund transactions have been eliminated; however, those transactions between governmental and business-type activities have not
been eliminated.

The City applies all applicable GASB pronouncements (including all National Council on Governmental Accounting Statements and
Interpretations currently in effect) as well as the following pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements: Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and Interpretations, Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinions, and Accounting Research Bulletins (ARB) of the Committee on Accounting Procedure.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Fund Financial Statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for
all major governmental funds and nonmajor funds aggregated. An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in
fund balances and changes in fund balances as presented in these statements to the net position and changes in net position presented in the
Government-Wide Financial Statements. The City has presented all major funds that met those qualifications.

All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or “current financial resources” measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Accordingly, only current assets and current liabilities are included on the Balance Sheets. The Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current position. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which
they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Accordingly, revenues are recorded when received in
cash, except that revenues subject to accrual (generally 60 days after year-end) are recognized when due. The primary revenue sources which
have been treated as susceptible to accrual by the City are property taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other taxes.
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus (Continued)

Governmental Fund Financial Statements (Continued)

Expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred. The City has elected to apply the early
recognition option of recognizing debt services expenditures provided by GASB Interpretation No. 6, Recognition and Measurement of Certain
Liabilities and Expenditures in Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Under this option, an expenditure and a liability are recorded in debt
service funds in the current year for amounts due early in the following year, for which resources have been provided during the current year.

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and
a Statement of Cash Flows for each major proprietary fund. A column representing internal service funds is also presented with the Proprietary
Fund Financial Statements. Internal service balances and activities, however, have been combined with the governmental activities in the
Government-Wide Financial Statements.

Proprietary funds are accounted for using the “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all
assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) are included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred.

Operating revenues in the proprietary funds are those revenues that are generated from the primary operations of the fund. All other revenues are
reported as non-operating revenues. Operating expenses are those expenses that are essential to the primary operations of the fund. All other
expenses are reported as non-operating expenses.

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position. The City’s Fiduciary Funds represent Agency Funds, which are
custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. Therefore, Agency Funds do not have a
measurement focus. These funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. The following Agency Funds are included in the
Fiduciary Fund financial statements:

Montana Arts Council — Accounts for pass-through monies received from the State of Montana to fund local chapters of cultural
enhancement activities such as the Bozeman Symphony Orchestra, Montana Ballet, Mandolin Society, Intermountain Opera Association,
and the Emerson Cultural Center.

Municipal Court — Accounts for monies held for appearance bonds and restitution related to criminal arrests and reimbursement for damage
caused.
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus (Continued)

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements (Continued)

CMC Bozeman Site Remediation Fund - Accounts for pass-through monies provided by the State of Montana Department of Environmental
Quality to Olive & Wallace, LLC, to reimburse the cost of work performed as part of the Voluntary Cleanup Plan o